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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. BOX 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	TEICHA L. COX, 

         Employee, 

              Claimant,

         v. 

ASRC ENERGY SERVICES PIPELINE, 

POWER AND COMMUNICATIONS,

          Employer,

          and 

LIBERTY MUTUAL FIRE INS. CO.,

          Insurer,

               Defendants.
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)
	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200321474
AWCB Decision No.  09-0110
Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on June 11, 2009


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employer’s appeal of the Reemployment Benefits Administrator Designee’s (RBA Designee) decision finding the claimant eligible for reemployment benefits on May 12, 2009 in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Jeffrey Holloway represented the employer and insurer (employer).  Attorney Robert Rehbock represented the employee (claimant).  We closed the record at the conclusion of the hearing.


ISSUES
1. Did the RBA Designee abuse her discretion in determining the employee eligible for reemployment benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.041(d-f)?  

2. Should we modify the RBA Designee’s eligibility decision based on new evidence, pursuant to AS 23.30.130?


SUMMARY OF THE EVIDENCE

The following summary of evidence is limited to that required to decide the narrow issue before us.

I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The claimant completed her Report of Injury (ROI) on January 8, 2004, and the employer signed it on the same day and filed it on January 22, 2004.
  On December 1, 2003, the claimant was transferring material from the shop to the Conex builgind, and when stepping in and out of the Conex building, she had a soft tissue injury to her left knee.  She also had to walk through snow that was three feet deep and step onto an 18 inch ledge while transferring the material.  The employer first knew of the injury on December 1, 2003.
  The employer initially accepted the claim and paid medical benefits.  However, the employer controverted TTD, TPD, PPI, on-going medical benefits and reemployment benefits, based on Ilmar Soot, M.D.’s April 17, 2008 employer’s medical evaluation (EME) report.
  

The claimant filed her workers’ compensation claim (WCC) on June 18, 2008, requesting TTD, medical benefits, PPI when rated, and attorney fees and costs.
  She described her injury as “pain in the anterior aspect of left knee, pain in anterior medial peripatellar region and pain when squatting, kneeling and stairs.”  The employer filed its Answer, admitting the compensability of reasonable and necessary medical costs, but denying the other requested benefits.
  The employer filed another Controversion Notice on July 9, 2008, denying TTD benefits PPI benefits, medical costs which were not reasonable or necessary, transportation expenses, interest, and attorney fees and costs.

On June 18, 2008, the claimant petitioned for an SIME, based on a dispute in opinion between the claimant’s physician and the employer’s physician.
  The employer did not oppose this petition.

On December 2, 2008, the claimant filed an amended WCC, seeking an adjustment on her compensation rate, and a penalty.
  The employer filed its Answer on December 17, 2008, admitting reasonable and necessary medical costs, and denying the other requested benefits.

On April 16, 2009, the claimant filed a petition requesting additional SIME specialties to address the concerns and speculations of Dr. Gritzka’s March 18, 2009 report suggesting psychiatric or psychological evaluation.
  The employer opposed the petition.

The Reemployment Benefits Administrator (RBA) Designee wrote a letter to the claimant on March 26, 2009, stating she had been found eligible for reemployment benefits.
  The claimant indicated she wanted to receive reemployment benefits.
  On April 6, 2009, the employer filed its petition for review of the RBA Designee’s determination the claimant was eligible for reemployment benefits, stating her determination was premature, as the response from SIME physician Dr. Gritzka’s response to the claimant’s bone scan.  On the same day, the employer filed its Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing (ARH) on its Petition for Review of the RBA’s decision.
  The claimant opposed this ARH, stating a prehearing conference was needed, discovery had not been completed, and she had not had an opportunity to cross-examine any of the defense witnesses.
  

On April 22, 2009, on the basis that she had not completed discovery, the claimant filed a petition to continue the hearing set for May 12, 2009 on the employer’s petition for review of the RBA Designee’s determination that had found the claimant eligible for reemployment benefits..

II.  REEMPLOYMENT BENEFIT HISTORY

The claimant requested a vocational evaluation, and although the request was late, the Workers’ Compensation Technician (WCT) determined she had unusual and extenuating circumstances for her late request.
  The WCT assigned the claimant to rehabilitation specialist Robert Sullivan, a certified rehabilitation counselor (CRC), to perform the evaluation within 30 days.
  Dr. Mills responded to CRC Sullivan’s inquiry concerning the claimant on November 12, 2008.
  Dr. Mills opined the claimant was medically stable and could not return to her Electrician Apprentice job.  He also predicted she had a permanent partial impairment (PPI), ratable under the AMA Guides to the Evaluation of Permanent Impairment (AMA Guides).
  Dr. Mills did not review the job descriptions sent to him, however, which were electrician apprentice; apprentice electrician /form-tamper operator; laborer/expediter or material expediter/landscape; laborer/flagger; dump-truck driver; sales person, sporting goods; construction worker; laborer, sawmill; hostess, restaurant/waitress formal; cashierII/tanning salon attendant; and cleaner, housekeeping.
  CRC Sullivan recommended the claimant be referred for a physical capacity evaluation (PCE).
  The employer’s attorney requested that the job descriptions for industrial truck operator, welding machine operator, inventory clerk, and venetian blind cleaner and repairer be added to the job descriptions to be submitted to Dr. Mills for his review, based on the claimant’s deposition testimony concerning her work history.
  The RBA Designee requested that CRC Sullivan prepare additional job descriptions, if appropriate, based on the employer’s attorney’s request.
  

On December 4, 2008, physical therapist (PT) Alan Blizzard performed a PCE of the claimant.
  He determined the claimant should be placed in the sedentary/light strength demand category, explaining the light category had lifting limits of 20 pounds occasionally and 10 pounds frequently, and the sedentary category had lifting limits of 10 pounds occasionally and no pounds frequently.  PT Blizzard noted the PCE was valid and the claimant gave maximal effort during testing.  He stated the claimant would not meet the overall strength demand levels to return to full-time as an electrician.
  On December 23, 2008, CRC Sullivan requested that Dr. Mills review the job descriptions submitted to him previously, as well as two additional job descriptions, one for cleaner, industrial/welder helper, and one for venetian blind cleaner & repairer.

On January 23, 2009, CRC Sullivan wrote an eligibility evaluation status report, explaining more medical information was needed before an eligibility determination could be proposed.
  On March 3, 2009, CRC Sullivan wrote an eligibility evaluation addendum, in which he noted Dr. Mills had disapproved all 12 job descriptions.
  He stated he had contacted the claimant’s employer and verified the employer did not have alternate employment to offer that would satisfy the requirements of AS 23.30.041 (f)(1).  In addition, Dr. Mills had predicted the claimant did not have the residual physical capacity to return to her job at the time of injury, or any other employment in her ten-year work history prior to the work injury.  The claimant had not been rehabilitated in a prior workers’ compensation claim, and Dr. Mills predicted she sustained a PPI.  CRC Sullivan recommended the claimant be found eligible for reemployment benefits.
  On March 26, 2009, the RBA Designee determined the claimant was eligible for reemployment benefits.
  

III.  MEDICAL HISTORY

The claimant first sought treatment for her left knee injury on January 7, 2004, when she consulted Kathleen Todd, M.D.
  Dr. Todd diagnosed chondromalacia of the patella and prescribed exercises, the medicine Alleve, and released the claimant to regular work.  She noted the claimant had injured the knee 15 years ago in a car accident.
  She also planned to recommend an orthopedic consult or MRI as necessary.
  An x-ray examination, including sunrise views of both knees, showed no abnormalities of the left knee.
  

The employee next consulted Richard Garner, M.D., on April 22, 2004.
  Dr. Garner noted the claimant’s history of a car accident in 1990 in which she bumped both knees into the dashboard, but did not have any residual problems.  On physical examination, Dr. Garner indicated the claimant had a slight leg length discrepancy, with the left leg being 1/8 inch shorter.  He noted she lacked 5 degrees of full extension, and the left knee flexed to 115 degrees.  Dr. Garner also noted marked retropatellar crepitus with flexion and extension, and a clicking sensation over the anterolateral femoral condyle, suggesting plica or a large fat pad.  He diagnosed chondromalacia patella, accompanied by a hypertrophic anterior fat pad and a plica.  He ordered an MRI and restricted the claimant from her regular work, allowing low demand work that did not involve stair climbing or descending or ladders.
  The left knee MRI showed intrasubstance myxoid degeneration of the medial meniscus without discrete meniscal tear, low grade chondromalacia patellae, and a small joint effusion.
  On May 4, 2004, Dr. Garner saw the claimant on follow-up and diagnosed degeneration and possible minimal tear of the left medial meniscus, and chondromalacia patellae.
  He released her to return to work the next day, but asked her to return in about six weeks to have a skyliner patellar view x-ray.

The claimant followed up with Dr. Garner on June 4, 2004, at which time he opined she was approaching medical stability.
  He indicated she would probably not need surgery in the near future, although she might require some surgical procedure such as a lateral release if her patella became more symptomatic.  He referred her to Shawn Hadley, M.D. for a permanent partial impairment rating (PPI).

Dr. Hadley evaluated the claimant on February 15, 2005 for a closing examination and a PPI rating.
  Dr. Hadley reviewed the claimant’s medical history and performed a physical examination.  He indicated there were no gait abnormalities.  He noted large infrapatellar fat pads bilaterally.  He indicated there was mild tenderness in the left knee along the mediosuperior border of the patella, and that patellar grind was minimally positive on the left, which the claimant described as uncomfortable.  The extension on the left knee was 2 degrees, and in the right it was 8 degrees.  Flexion on the left was 130 degrees and on the right 135 degrees.  Dr. Hadley opined the issue of medical stability was unclear, and the claimant expected to undergo physical therapy.  He referred the claimant back to Dr. Garner to order physical therapy, if he felt it was appropriate.

Dr. Hall saw the claimant again on October 28, 2005.
  She reported she was continuing to work as an electrician’s apprentice, and her left knee continued to be painful.  On physical examination, Dr. Hall indicated the left knee had a range of motion from three to five degrees of extension and about 135 degrees of flexion.  He noted the medial joint line was mildly tender to palpation, and lateral patellar displacement was mildly tender on the medial side of the patella.  The claimant was also tender over the medial femoral condyle with maximal displacement of the patella.  Sunrise x-ray views of the right and left knees showed more patellar tilt in the left knee in the 30-degree view.  Dr. Hall noted the prior MRI showed some abnormal signal in the posterior aspect of the medical meniscus, and discussed with the claimant the fact it was relatively unusual in her age group.  He opined the possibilities for her diagnosis included patella femoral problems versus a medial meniscal tear.  He ordered a patellar stabilizing brace, and the claimant was to begin physical therapy, which was then available where she lived.

The claimant saw Dr. Hall again on November 21, 2005, for follow up of her left knee pain.
  The claimant participated in physical therapy, but only for one or two visits, and her knee brace significantly improved her pain.  On physical examination, the patella could be displaced laterally 50% of its width, which caused tenderness.  The lateral aspect of the patellofemoral joint was also tender.  Dr. Hall indicated the diagnosis of patellofemoral problems was confirmed by the relief provided by the knee brace.  He advised her to continue with her rehabilitation exercises and follow up in three to four weeks.

On July 13, 2006, the claimant saw Dr. Hall for follow-up.
  She complained of continuing left knee pain when using stairs, kneeling on her left knee, and getting out of a chair.  The brace did provide some relief of her pain, but physical therapy did not.  Dr. Hall noted patellofemoral pain, and diagnosed her with left knee patellofemoral pain.  He gave the claimant a cortisone injection to her left knee, and restricted her from working that day.
  On July 27, 2006, the claimant reported no relief at all from the cortisone injection.
  She also reported she was unable to kneel on the knee, or run, jog or do some of her other activities.  She quit her job as an electrical apprentice, but not necessarily because of her knee.  Dr. Hall recommended a bone scan, or a second opinion.  He referred the claimant to William Mills, M.D.

On August 2, 2006, Dr. Mills evaluated the claimant.
  He took a history and performed a physical examination, and ordered new x-rays.  The x-rays demonstrated notable narrowing of the lateral patellofemoral interval and slight lateral subluxation of the patella in the trochlea compared to the right side.  The weight bearing view demonstrated a lateralized patella and mild to moderate narrowing of the medial compartment.  Dr. Mills diagnosed the claimant with anterior knee pain, patella femoral chondromalacia, and lateralization of the patella.  He agreed with Dr. Hall the treatment options were difficult and limited.  Dr. Mills prescribed a course of continuous use of anti-inflammatory medications and a pool therapy program.
  On follow up on August 25, 2006, the claimant reported improvement with the continuous anti-inflammatory medication regimen, and Dr. Mills indicated she should return and discuss further treatment options, such as surgery, if her pain relapsed or worsened.

The claimant saw Dr. Mills for follow-up a year later, on July 20, 2007.
  She reported she had to stop the anti-inflammatory medications due to her pregnancy, and there was a significant increase in her knee pain.  Physical examination revealed significant tenderness over the medial patellar margin, retropatellar knee pain with extension at 30 degrees and flexion at 60 degrees.  X-rays, including weight bearing, lateral and sunrise views revealed a slightly lateral positioned patella on the femur and slightly lateral tilt of the patella in the trochlea on the sunrise view, but no sign of osteochondral injury or gross chondral wear.  Dr. Mills indicated a cartilage sensitive MRI should be performed to determine whether there were focal areas of cartilage wear, but deferred this until after the delivery of her baby in the spring.
  

An MRI of the left knee was performed on March 10, 2008, which was negative, except for a moderate sized joint effusion.
  Dr. Mills saw the claimant on March 19, 2008, and explained to her she might benefit from diagnostic arthroscopy to ensure there were no retropatellar or trochlear cartilage lesions causing her effusion and pain.
  He opined she might also benefit from avoiding the type of work she did as an electrician.

At the employer’s request, the claimant was examined by orthopedic surgeon Ilmar Soot, M.D. on April 17, 2008.
  Dr. Soot was unable to diagnosis the claimant’s left knee pain, and opined there was no mechanism of injury in December of 2003 that would account for the claimant’s pain on the date of the evaluation.  He also indicated the work injury did not aggravate, accelerate or combine with a preexisting condition to produce the need for current medical treatment or disability.  Dr. Soot opined the claimant had not suffered a permanent impairment due to her injury and that she was medically stable.  He further opined although there was no objective reason why she could not perform to her job at the time of injury, subjectively she was unable to do so.  In addition, Dr. Soot indicated if the claimant had an articular surface irregularity that was causing the symptoms in the left knee, it would not be the consequence of the work activity of December 2003.  He opined it was questionable whether a surgical procedure could improve her left knee symptoms, although a lateral retinacular release might ease some of the strain on the patellar mechanism.

Dr. Mills opined in his June 11, 2008 letter the claimant’s left knee injury was work related.
  He stated there was a consistently reported history from Dr. Garner, Dr. Hall, and himself that the work activity walking through deep snow and in and out of and between Conex trailers was the inciting event leading to the onset and continuation of her knee pain.

Thomas Gritzka, M.D., a board certified orthopedic surgeon, evaluated the claimant in a second independent medical evaluation (SIME) on November 19, 2008.
  The claimant complained of stabbing, shooting pain in her left anterior knee, which occurred on a daily basis.  The pain was activity related.  The left knee “locked up” and collapsed or gave way, as well, and she had fallen twice while carrying her baby daughter.  She could not walk very far or long without significant left knee pain.  Dr. Gritzka reviewed the claimant’s medical record and conducted a physical examination.  He noted the claimant stood with most of her weight on her right leg, her left patella was laterally displaced, and there was a mild left tibial torsion.  He also noted her left pes anserine bursa
 appeared swollen compared to the right, and she walked with a left antalgic limp.  She was able to stand on her tiptoes, but had difficulty walking on her tiptoes because of left knee pain.  She was able to walk on her heels with some difficulty and do about 40% of a full deep knee bend.  The claimant was able to jog in place, but could not hop on her abducted left leg.  Dr. Gritzka could not demonstrate any instability in the left knee.
  

Dr. Gritzka diagnosed the claimant with left knee pain, etiology undetermined, rule out left chondromalacia patellae, and rule out monarticular inflammatory arthritis.  He indicated the medical cause of the pain was not known.  Based on the claimant’s history of no left knee pain prior to the work injury, he opined the work events of December 12, 2003, were the cause of her left knee pain.  Dr. Gritzka also indicated it was unclear whether the claimant had a preexisting condition which was aggravated, accelerated or combined with the work injury to produce her current symptoms.  He opined the treatment she had received to date was reasonable and necessary.  He recommended a radioactive bone scan to compare the claimant’s right and left knees.  He opined if the bone scan was negative, taken in conjunction with the cartilage sensitive MRI the claimant had previously, it would be more probable than not the claimant did not have a treatable left knee condition, but only subjective complaints.  If the bone scan was negative, Dr. Gritzka recommended a psychological or psychiatric evaluation to help explain the claimant’s left knee symptoms.  If the bone scan was positive, Dr. Gritzka recommended an evaluation by a rheumatologist to rule out a monoarticular inflammatory arthropathy.  However, if the rheumatology consult was negative, he recommended a diagnostic arthroscopy of the left knee.

A bone scan of the claimant’s knees was completed on January 9, 2009, and was normal.
  After reviewing the bone scan, Dr. Gritzka opined the claimant had reached maximum medical improvement and had no PPI.
  He opined there was no orthopedic explanation for the claimant’s complaints of left knee pain, and any additional treatment should begin with a psychiatric or psychological examination.
  

On May 1, 2009, Dr. Mills stated his opinion had not changed that the work injury is the cause of the claimant’s current left knee pain and disability.
  He also affirmed she had incurred a permanent impairment and required retraining.  Dr. Mills indicated arthroscopic examination of the left knee would be diagnostic, identifying areas of chondromalacia of the patella, softening and irregularity, and even wear, of the cartilage, but that there might not be a treatable lesion within the knee.  He stated there was a 50% chance there might be something treatable that would give the claimant pain relief.

IV.  ARGUMENTS OF THE PARTIES

A. Employer’s Arguments

The employer maintained the RBA Designee’s determination the claimant is eligible for reemployment benefits is not supported by substantial evidence in light of the whole record.
  The employer argued an SIME was requested by the claimant and not opposed by the employer, and Dr. Gritzka’s November 2008 SIME report was questionable as to causation.  The employer relies on the Board decision Rodgers v. Fairweather, Inc.,
 in which the Board found an abuse of discretion as there was not substantial evidence to support a finding the work injury was a substantial factor causing the employee’s need for retraining.  The employer also relies on Pearson v. G.B.R. Equipment, Inc.,
 in which the Board found an abuse of discretion because causation concerning whether an employee’s foot injury or his diabetes caused the need for retraining.  In the present case, the employer contends Dr. Gritzka’s opinion in his November 2008 SIME report reveals he could find no medical cause for the claimant’s symptoms.  In addition, the employer argues Dr. Mills’ opinions the claimant’s symptoms and disability are related to the work injury were authored for litigation purposes, and Dr. Mills was not able to identify objective findings to explain the claimant’s knee complaints.  On the other hand, the employer maintained, the EME physician Dr. Soot clearly opined the work injury was not a substantial factor in the claimant’s complaints of left knee pain and inability to work.  The employer argued the claimant’s explanations of how the alleged injury occurred changed over the more than five years since she first reported the injury.  In 2005 she reported to Dr. Hadley she noticed stiffness on the date of injury, and the symptoms built up over time, and to Dr. Hall she reported there was no one specific incident that she could point to where she injured her knee. She reported to Dr. Hadley she twisted her knee, had immediate pain and was unable to walk within ten minutes.  The employer also maintained the results of the bone scan recommended by Dr. Gritzka, which were negative, were forwarded to the RBA Designee on January 23, 2009, so the weight of the evidence before the RBA Designee when she made her decision demonstrated the claimant’s knee complaints were subjective and there was not substantial evidence to support the RBA Designee’s conclusion the claimant’s need for retraining is due to the work injury.

The employer also maintained there is not substantial evidence that the claimant cannot return to her job at the time of injury or any job held within the ten years prior to the work injury due the physical limitations resulting from the work injury.  The employer contended the RBA Designee should have given little weight to Dr. Mills’ disapproval of all twelve job descriptions submitted to him, three of which were light duty.  The employer argued this is true as Dr. Mills was not able to determine if there is a physical cause to the claimant’s left knee complaints.  In addition, Dr. Garner released the claimant to full-duty work on May 4, 2004, and no doctor since has provided a disability slip.   Further, the employer argued Dr. Soot opined the only limitations to the claimant’s ability to work were due to her subjective complaints, and the PCE report stated the claimant rates her pain at a level significantly out of proportion with her movement pattern.  The employer argued since Drs. Soot and Gritzka agreed the claimant had no objectively recognizable knee condition, substantial evidence is lacking that the work injury is a substantial factor in the functional limitations identified in the PCE.

The employer maintained there is not substantial evidence in light of the entire record to support a prediction the claimant has a PPI.  The employer relied on the Alaska Supreme Court case Rydwell v. Anchorage School Dist.,
 in which the Court stated the legislature’s concerns with objective diagnoses and reducing costs to employers are instructive,” to support its contention the claimant is not entitled to reemployment benefits as there are no objective findings she sustained an injury to her left knee, and thus no PPI rating can be given under the AMA Guides.
  

In the alternative, the employer argued the new evidence in the SIME addendum report that was not available to the RBA Designee when the eligibility decision was made justifies modification of the decision under AS 23.30.130(a).  The employer maintained it provided the SIME addendum report to the RBA Designee as the report was not issued until two weeks after the RBA Designee’s decision was issued, and therefore the evidence is newly discovered.  The employer also argued the Alaska Supreme Court in the Rydwell case, in which the Court found an employee with a zero PPI rating had to cease reemployment training, directs that the claimant is precluded from retraining.  The employer contends Dr. Gritzka’s SIME report is substantial evidence that is determinative of the claimant’s ability to undergo retraining.  The employer, relying on the Board decision in Riebe v. Fairbanks Gold Mining, Inc.,
 maintained if the Board failed to find the RBA Designee abused her discretion, the Board should find there is new evidence justifying modification of her decision.
   

At hearing the employer again argued Dr. Mills’ opinions were not substantial evidence as they were mere conjecture and he had not made a diagnosis.  The employer maintained there must be objective evidence and a diagnosis to support a prediction of PPI.  At a minimum, the employer contended the Board should remand the case to the RBA Designee for consideration of the new evidence.

B. Claimant’s Arguments

The claimant argued the RBA Designee is entitled to rely on the substantial evidence of Drs. Mills,  Hadley and Garner.
  She contended if the employer believes the SIME evidence is new evidence so that the RBA Designee’s determination of eligibility should be overturned, the employer must file a request for modification or an ARH for the WCC.  She further contended the employer is not entitled to use the expedited procedure of AS 23.30.041 to avoid allowing the proper review of the evidence at a hearing on the merits.  The claimant maintained that in a review of the RBA Designee’s decision, the Board is limited to determining whether the Board Designee’s decision was supported by substantial evidence.  She argued if, in light of all the evidence, including the new evidence, the Board Designee’s decision remains supported by substantial evidence, the Board Designee did not abuse discretion.  Further, the claimant argued the opinions of Dr. Mills that the claimant has a PPI that arose from her work injury and that she cannot return to any of her former jobs met the statutory standard for eligibility for reemployment benefits.  In addition, Drs. Garner and Hadley agreed with Dr. Mills that the claimant had a PPI due to her work injury.
  The claimant maintained the RBA Designee, having found a physician predicted a PPI, did not abuse discretion to accept that evidence.
  

Further, the claimant contended the purpose of the review by the Board is not to reweigh the evidence, but to determine whether substantial evidence support the RBA Designee exists.  The claimant, relying on the Alaska Supreme Court case Cowen v. Wal-Mart,
 maintained the fact there is other substantial evidence in the record that would support a contrary decision, does not render less substantial or less sufficient the evidence that supports the RBA Designee’s determination.  The claimant relied on the Alaska Supreme Court case Rydwell v. Anchorage School District,
 for the proposition the existence of additional opinions that the Board could rely upon at an evidentiary final hearing in the future does not mean the RBA Designee has abused discretion.  If at that future hearing the Board concludes the claimant has no PPI, only then will the claimant cease to be eligible for reemployment benefits.  The claimant also relied upon Grunwald v. Providence Alaska,
 a case in which the Board found there was a dispute between physicians concerning whether the employee would be able to return to his work at the time of injury.  The Grunwald Board upheld the RBA Designee’s determination the employee was eligible and declined to suspend reemployment benefits pending an SIME, based in part on the legislative intent to provide a quick, efficient, and cost-effective remedy under AS 23.30.001.

The claimant also relied on diverse cases which have held the existence of defenses short of course and scope are not sufficient to interrupt the reemployment process.  The claimant relied on Carey v. Kwinhagak
 and Stokes v.C.E.S.S.,
 in which employers had an opportunity to furnish to the RBA Designee evidence which was substantial to support a different conclusion, but there was also substantial evidence to support the RBA Designee’s determination.  The Board found under those circumstance, where the contrary evidence fell short of a full course and scope controversion, it was not sufficient to preclude the finding of eligibility.  The prior Board decisions in Stackhouse v. C.G.G. Veritas Services Holding, Inc., 
 (Stackhouse I and Stackhouse II), the RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion when she did not wait for the SIME, and in fact was compelled not to await the SIME, as her decision was due within 14 days of the date she receives the CRC’s report under AS 23.30.041(d).

The claimant also contended the SIME process is not complete, as the SIME physician has not responded to interrogatories and has not been deposed.  The claimant maintained the SIME report is incomplete and inconsistent.  The claimant argued it still has a petition pending for a psychiatric SIME, and an ARH still has not been filed on that petition.  The claimant further argued the employer should not be allowed to convert the review of an RBA decision into a merits hearing under AS 23.30.110 and AS 23.30.130 without a prior ARH.  The claimant requested that the Board deny the employer’s petition and direct the employer to seek a hearing if it is ready for a hearing on the merits of the PPI dispute. 

At hearing, the claimant additionally argued Dr. Mills’ opinion is substantial evidence, as he is an expert in knees.  The claimant maintained AS 23.30.041 only requires a prediction of a PPI, not for a specific PPI.  In response to the employer’s argument there is no objective evidence of an injury, the claimant argued Dr. Mills has clearly opined there is an anatomical injury, the exact nature of which will be demonstrated during arthroscopy.  The claimant again argued it is Dr. Gritzka’s opinion that is not substantial evidence, as it is inconsistent and incomplete, and Dr. Gritzka has not seen all of the medical records, including Dr. Mills’ prediction of a PPI in his most recent letter.


FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
I. TIMELINESS

AS 23.30.041(d) provides in part:

(d) . . . Within 14 days after receipt of the report from the rehabilitation specialist, the administrator shall notify the parties of the employee’s eligibility for reemployment preparation benefits.  Within 10 days after the decision, either party may seek review of the decision by requesting a hearing under AS 23.30.110.  The hearing shall be held within 30 days after it is requested.  The Board shall uphold the decision of the administrator except for abuse of discretion on the administrator’s part.

AS 23.30.110(c) states in pertinent part:

(c) Before a hearing is scheduled, the party requesting a hearing shall file a request for a hearing together with an affidavit stating that the party has completed all necessary discovery, obtained necessary evidence, and is prepared for the hearing. . . .

We first find Employer timely filed a petition appealing the RBA Designee’s March 26, 2009 decision to the Board on April 6, 2008.
  We further find Employer timely requested a hearing by filing an Affidavit of Readiness for Hearing on their appeal petition on that same date.
  

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Pursuant to AS 23.30.041(d) we must uphold the RBA’s decision absent “an abuse of discretion on the administrator’s part.”  Several definitions of the phrase “abuse of discretion” appear in Alaska law although none occur in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (Act).  The Alaska Supreme Court has stated abuse of discretion consists of “issuing a decision which is arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or which stems from an improper motive.”
  An agency’s failure to properly apply the controlling law may also be considered an abuse of discretion.

The Administrative Procedure Act (APA) provides another definition for use by courts in considering appeals of administrative agency decisions.  It contains terms similar to those above and expressly includes reference to a “substantial evidence” standard:  

Abuse of discretion is established if the agency has not proceeded in the manner required by law, the order or decision is not supported by the findings, or the findings are not supported by the evidence. . . .  If it is claimed that the findings are not supported by the evidence, abuse of discretion is established if the court determines that the findings are not supported by (1) the weight of the evidence; or (2) substantial evidence in the light of the whole record.
 

On appeal to the Alaska Worker’s Compensation Appeals Commission and the courts, our decision reviewing the RBA’s determination is subject to reversal under the “abuse of discretion” standard of AS 44.62.570 incorporating the “substantial evidence test.”  Concern with meeting that standard on appeal leads us to apply a substantial evidence standard in our review of an RBA eligibility determination.  While applying a substantial evidence standard a “[reviewer] may not reweigh the evidence or draw its own inferences from the evidence.  If, in light of the record as a whole, there is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, then the order . . . must be upheld.”
  

The task of determining whether an abuse of discretion has taken place is aided by our practice of allowing additional evidence into the record at the review hearing.  The practice is based on the rationale expressed in several superior court opinions addressing that issue on appeal of our prior decisions.
  Nevertheless, under 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A), we are precluded from considering additional evidence if the party offering that evidence failed to exercise reasonable diligence in developing and presenting that evidence before the RBA Designee.
  

After allowing the parties to present their arguments, we review the arguments and the evidence before the RBA to assess whether the RBA Designee’s decision was supported by substantial evidence and therefore reasonable.
  If, in light of all the evidence, we find the RBA Designee’s decision is not supported by substantial evidence, we conclude that the RBA Designee abused her discretion and remand the matter for reexamination of the evidence and for necessary action.

III. ELIGIBILITY FOR REEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS UNDER AS 23.30.041

AS 23.30.041 provides, in part:

(e) An employee shall be eligible for benefits under this section upon the employee’s written request and by having a physician predict that the employee will have permanent physical capacities that are less than the physical demands of the employee’s job as described in the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s ‘Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles’ for:

(1) the employee’s job at the time of injury; or

(2) other jobs that exist in the labor market that the employee has held or received training for within 10 years before the injury or that the employee has held following the injury for a period long enough to obtain the skills to compete in the labor market, according to specific vocational preparation codes as described in the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s ‘Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles.’

(f) An employee is not eligible for reemployment benefits if

(1) the employer offers employment within the employee’s predicted post-injury physical capacities at a wage equivalent to at least the state minimum wage under AS 23.10.065 or 75% of the worker’s gross hourly wages at the time of injury, whichever is greater, and the employment prepares the employee to be employable in other jobs that exist in the labor market;

(2) the employee previously declined the development of a reemployment benefits plan under (g) of this section, received a job dislocation benefit under (g)(2) of this section, and returned to work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of injury;

(3) the employee has been previously rehabilitated in a former worker’s compensation claim and returned to work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of the previous injury; or

(4) at the time of medical stability, no permanent impairment is identified or expected.

The disputes in this case focus on several specific provisions in AS 23.30.041(e) and (f), and on 8 AAC 45.510(b).  We address the parties’ arguments as follows:

A. Whether The RBA Designee’s Eligibility Decision Is Supported By Substantial Evidence

Employer argued the RBA Designee abused her discretion because “there is not substantial evidence in light of the entire record that the claimant’s alleged work injury is a substantial factor in her need for retraining.”
  Pursuant to AS 23.30.041(d) we must uphold the RBA’s decision absent “an abuse of discretion on the administrator’s part.”  While applying a substantial evidence standard of review a “[reviewer] may not reweigh the evidence or draw its own inferences from the evidence.  If, in light of the record as a whole, there is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, then the order . . . must be upheld.”
  We find the RBA Designee relied upon relevant evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support her conclusion, and her decision in this regard is supported by substantial evidence.

Without re-weighing the evidence, we find the RBA Designee reasonably relied upon CRC Sullivan’s recommendations, and her decision was supported by substantial evidence in light of the whole record.  The employer first argued the RBA abused her discretion as causation was questionable, relying on Rodgers
 and Pearson.
  However, we find the present case is distinguishable from both these cases.  In Rodgers, the Board found the RBA had abused her discretion, as she considered conditions other than the employee’s work injury to find he was disabled from his job at the time of injury.
  In Pearson, the treating physician offered three different opinions on whether the employee qualified for reemployment benefits, one that he did qualify, one qualified opinion that he did, and one that he did not.
  The Pearson Board found it significant that it was one physician offering the differing opinions, and found the RBA had abused discretion in finding the employee eligible.
  In the instant case, the RBA considered only the claimant’s left knee disability, and Dr. Mills’ opinion concerning the work relatedness of the claimant’s left knee disability has not wavered.

The employer contends the RBA Designee abused her discretion by not waiting for the SIME report addendum, which was actually specifically mentioned in CRC Sullivan’s report.  However, we do not find the RBA should suspend her decision concerning an employee’s eligibility because of a pending SIME.  We are persuaded by the reasoning in our prior cases, Grunwald v. Providence Alaska,
 and Stackhouse v. C.G.G. Veritas Services Holding, Inc.,
 in which the Board upheld the RBA’s eligibility determination and declined to suspend reemployment benefits awaiting an SIME.  In addition, we find AS 23.30.041(d) requires the RBA to notify the parties of the employee’s eligibility within 14 days of receiving the rehabilitation specialist’s report.  We find the law requires a prompt determination for vocational rehabilitation eligibility in accordance with the legislature’s expressed preference that the Act be interpreted “so as to ensure the quick, efficient, fair, and predictable delivery of indemnity and medical benefits to injured workers at a reasonable cost of the employer's are subject to the provisions of this chapter.”
  We also find “that this is particularly true when rehabilitation benefits are concerned, based upon the 1988 amendments to the Act, which observed that ‘[i]n the deliberative process the Legislature heard testimony that speed was an essential component to a successful rehabilitation program.’”
  We find the RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion when she did not delay her decision to wait for the SIME report addendum.

The employer next argues there is not substantial evidence in light of the entire record the claimant cannot return to her job at the time of injury or other jobs within her ten year work history.  The employer maintained the RBA should give little weight to Dr. Mills’ disapproval of the twelve jobs submitted to him, as he has not determined there is a physical cause for the claimant’s left knee symptoms and disability.  However, we find Dr. Mills believes there is a physical cause for her left knee disability, which would be demonstrated on arthroscopy, and that the work injury is a substantial factor in causing this disability.  We find Dr. Mills noted on physical examination objective findings of an injury, and diagnosed the claimant with anterior knee pain, patella femoral chondromalacia, and lateralization of the patella.  We also find that Dr. Mills predicted the claimant will have permanent physical capacities less than the physical demands of her job at the time of her injury or other jobs that she has held in the ten years before her injury.  Dr. Mills specifically commented on each and every job provided to him, and disapproved all of them.  We do not find significant the differences in the claimant’s description of her work injury that she reported to Dr. Hadley in 2005, Dr. Hall in late 2005, and Dr. Hadley in 2009, as the employer would have us do. In summary, based on Dr. Mills’ opinions, we find there is substantial evidence to support the RBA Designee’s determination the claimant cannot return to her job at the time of injury, or other jobs within her ten year work history, because of the work injury.

The employer suggests the weight of the evidence, particularly Dr. Gritzka’s SIME report and addendum, as well as Dr. Soot's EME report, compel the Board to reverse the RBA Designee's finding, as there is not substantial evidence to support the prediction of PPI.  We find Dr. Mills predicted the claimant will have a PPI.  We again find Dr. Mills believes the claimant has an occult physical defect in her left knee which would be visualized on arthroscopy.  We also find Dr. Mills found specific physical abnormalities in the claimant’s left knee on physical examination, including an effusion and lateral displacement of the patella, in addition to the subjective complaints of pain.  We find Dr. Soot indicated the lateral displacement or tilt in the claimant’s left knee might benefit by a retinacular release procedure, although it is true Dr. Soot did not opined this physical abnormality was work-related.  For the reasons above, we reject the employer’s dismissal of Dr. Mills’ prediction the claimant will have a PPI as mere conjecture.  We find both Dr. Hadley and Dr. Garner concurred with Dr. Mills’ opinion concerning the PPI, and referred the claimant for a PPI rating that was never completed.  Although the employer argues the fact Drs. Gritzka and Soot opined the claimant did not have a PPI because of the work injury means there is not substantial evidence in light of the whole record to support the RBA Designee’s eligibility determination, we find the claimant is correct in arguing the RBA did not abuse her discretion in accepting the evidence that a physician had predicted a PPI.  The evidence of Drs. Gritzka’s and Soot’s opinions, while presenting substantial evidence the claimant may not have a PPI, does not change the fact the evidence based on the opinions of Drs. Mills, Hadley and Garner that she does and/or will have a PPI is substantial evidence to support the RBA Designee’s eligibility determination.  As noted above, when applying a substantial evidence standard of review we may not reweigh the evidence or draw our own inferences from the evidence.  Our review is limited to whether the RBA Designee’s decision was supported by substantial evidence, and we find that it was.  

In summary, for all the above reasons, we affirm the RBA Designee’s March 26, 2009 decision finding the claimant eligible for reemployment benefits, and we deny and dismiss the employer’s Petition filed April 6, 2009 appealing that decision.

B. Whether New Evidence Justifies Modification of the Eligibility Decision Under AS 23.30.130(a).

The employer requests that the Board find Dr. Gritzka’s SIME report addendum is new evidence to justify modification of the eligibility decision. 

AS 23.30.130(a) provides:

Upon its own initiative, or upon the application of any party in interest on the ground of a change in condi​tions, including, for the purposes of AS 23.30.175, a change in residence, or because of a mistake in its determination of a fact, the board may, before one year after the date of the last payment of compensation benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, whether or not a compensation order has been issued, or before one year after the rejection of a claim, review a compensation case under the procedure prescribed in respect of claims in AS 23.30.1​10.  Under AS 23.30.110 the board may issue a new compensation order which terminates, continues, reinstates, increases or decreases the compensation, or award compensation.

The employer argues the new evidence in the form of Dr. Gritzka’s SIME addendum, in which he opined the claimant did not have a PPI, justifies a modification of the RBA’s decision under 
AS 23.30.130(a).  The employer relies on Riebe v. Fairbanks Gold Mining, Inc.,
 for the proposition a modification of the RBA’s determination is warranted in the instant matter.  In Riebe, the employee’s treating physician initially predicted the employee would have a PPI when medically stable.  Based on this opinion, the RBA found the employee eligible for reemployment benefits.  However, subsequently the treating physician indicated there were no objective findings for the employee’s injury and no further treatment he could provide.  The EME physician determined the employee had no clinical signs of injury, only subjective pain, and that he would not have any PPI.  In addition, the SIME physician found no objective permanent impairment and opined the employee should be able to return to his job at the time of injury.  Although the SIME physician did give the employee a 1% PPI, it was not based on the AMA Guides.  The Riebe Board found the record contained new medical evidence in the form of opinions rendered after the RBA issued his eligibility determination.  The Board also found although the treating physician had initially predicted a PPI, his chart notes did not indicate objective clinical findings on which to base a work-related PPI ratable under the AMA Guides.  The Board found there was no basis in the record to find or expect a PPI as required under the Act, and therefore there was an abuse of discretion by the RBA.  However, we find the present case is distinguishable from Riebe.  Whereas in Riebe, the treating physician’s chart notes did not demonstrate any objective clinical findings on which to base a prediction of a ratable PPI, in the instant matter Dr. Mills has documented the clinical findings of an effusion and lateral displacement/tilt in the claimant’s left knee, sufficient to prompt Dr. Soot to suggest a retinacular release procedure.  Dr. Mills has also expressed the opinion an arthroscopy will demonstrate further objective findings of an injury.  Based on Dr. Mills’ objective clinical findings documented in his medical records, and his opinion the claimant will have a PPI when medically stable based on the objective findings of an injury, we find there is substantial evidence to support the RBA Designee’s eligibility determination in the instant case.  If it was Dr. Mills himself that changed his mind and opined the claimant would not have a PPI, then there would in fact be new evidence that altered the substantial evidence supporting the RBA’s decision.  However, that is not the case here.  Therefore, we find there is not new evidence to justify a modification of the RBA’s March 26, 2009 determination of eligibility.  We will deny and dismiss the employer’s request for modification of the RBA’s decision.


ORDERS
1. The RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion in her March 26, 2009 determination the claimant is eligible for reemployment benefits pursuant to AS 23.30.041.  The employer’s petition appealing the RBA Designee’s decision is denied and dismissed.

2. The employer’s request for modification of the RBA Designee’s eligibility determination pursuant to AS 23.30.130 is denied and dismissed.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on June ___, 2009.
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